

## Introduction

Depression is one of the leading causes of non-fatal health loss in the world (James et al., 2018). An estimated 4-6 % of the world's population is currently living with depression (World Health Organization, 2017), and approximately 16% will meet criteria for a major depressive disorder during their lifetime (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Depression tends to emerge by mid-20's, but a large proportion of first onset cases are observed even before the age of 20 (Hankin et al., 1998; Malhi & Mann, 2018). It is however important to define the concept of depression. Depression can be defined as Major Depressive Disorder (MDD), which is a condition diagnosed by a clinician and constitutes of a certain number of symptoms (i.e. 5 or more) rather than a certain constellation of symptoms (Ingram et al., 2015). Hence, although the defining features, depressed/sad mood and/or anhedonia/decreased interest, are required for a diagnosis of the disorder, individuals with the same MDD diagnosis may suffer from different subsets of cognitive (e.g., guilt/worthlessness), emotional (e.g., feeling sad/low mood), and physiological or neurovegetative (e.g., problems with sleep/slowed movement or speech) symptoms (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Ingram et al., 2015). Furthermore, the behavioural patterns associated with different symptoms may be highly variable across individuals, such as while some individuals may show increased sadness and related behaviours (e.g. tearfulness), others may show increased irritability and related behaviours (e.g. angry outbursts) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). These symptoms must cause significant impairment in the individual's life, be present nearly every day, for at least two consecutive weeks, and cannot be better explained by other conditions (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Depression can also be defined as a subclinical condition, in which the same or similar symptoms as identified in MDD are assessed through depression questionnaires

(Ingram et al., 2015). Subclinical depression is hence representative of MDD symptomatology but does not meet the diagnostic criteria required for a diagnosis of MDD, instead, severity or clinical relevance of symptomatology is often defined and reported by specific cut-off scores on the scale (Ingram et al., 2015). To-date, depression research in athletes has mostly utilized depression questionnaires (Golding et al., 2020), therefore, in this study we reviewed literature that has assessed subclinical depression rather than MDD in athletes. We used the term ‘depression’ to refer more generally to clinical and/or subclinical depression, and ‘depressive symptoms’ when referring specifically to subclinical depression.

Although empirical evidence on depression and other mental health issues in athletes is still scarce, there has been a notable increase in the research output within the past decade (Gouttebauge et al., 2019). This trend is also reflected in the recent influx of review articles on athlete depression, which suggests that much of the emerging primary research has focused on prevalence rates and risk factors (Frank et al., 2013; Golding et al., 2020; Wolanin et al., 2015) and differences between athletes and non-athletes (Armstrong et al., 2015; Golding et al., 2020; Gorczynski et al., 2017).

There is still an on-going debate whether depression is higher or more prevalent in athletes than in non-athletes; while some reviews suggest that athletes do not significantly differ from non-athletes (Gorczynski et al., 2017), others suggest that athletes are in fact less susceptible to depression than non-athletes (Armstrong et al., 2015). These discrepancies may partly be explained by different methodological approaches used to assess depression and the type of athletes and comparison groups utilized in the included studies (Gouttebauge et al., 2019). Despite these discrepancies, ~~there seems to be an overall consensus that competitive athletes are a specific population that are confronted with both~~ research has identified a range of different

generic and (unique) sport-related stressors and risk factors that ~~may contribute~~ ~~to correlate with athletes to~~ depressive symptoms ~~on~~ and other mental health issues in athletes (Küttel & Larsen, 2019; Reardon et al., 2019; Wolanin et al., 2015). For example, while normative sex differences in depression (Breslau et al., 2017; Hankin et al., 1998) have also been reported in athletes (Golding et al., 2020), sport-specific determinants or characteristics such as the type of sport (Beable et al., 2017; Golding et al., 2020; Nixdorf et al., 2016) and the level of competition (Hammond et al., 2013) have also shown to relate to differences in athlete depression. Stressors inherent in the context of sports may also contribute, such as public evaluation of performance (Doherty et al., 2016), athletic injury (Rice et al., 2018), performance failure (Hammond et al., 2013), and overtraining (Peluso & Andrade, 2005). Understanding this sport-specificity ~~in athlete depression~~ is vital, as it allows preventive and support initiatives to be more accurately tailored for athlete populations.

Several previous reviews have improved our understanding ~~on of~~ different depression-related topics in athletes. For example, as identified by Golding et al. (2020), a number of different measures and cut-off scores have been utilized when assessing and reporting prevalence rates in athletes. This is an important finding as it allows for the identification of the strengths and weaknesses in current knowledge and practices and informs improvements in future research and practice. However, Golding et al. (2020) review included only studies that reported prevalence rates and hence, does not allow for a comprehensive exploration of the overall trends in studies assessing depressive symptoms in athletes. Other reviews to-date have also been limited in their breadth of scope in terms of the type of included studies. For example, one systematic review included merely comparative studies, with samples consisting of student athletes and non-athletes with  $\geq 100$  participants (N=10) (Armstrong et al., 2015), one

study included only elite-athletes (N=10) (Frank et al., 2013), and in a more recent meta-analysis, only comparative studies reporting prevalence rates for high-level athletes and non-athletes were included (N=5) (Gorzynski et al., 2017).

Considering the aims and the corresponding inclusion/exclusion criteria of previous reviews, and the increasing research output on athlete mental health issues in the past decade (Gouttebauge et al., 2019), it is likely that several studies have not been included in previous reviews. A comprehensive review of the research output, especially in terms of the methodological characteristics, and the variables that have been tested in relation to depressive symptomatology in athletes is thus essential. This would not only allow for an increased understanding of the methodological approaches utilized across various athlete samples - but also provide a map of the correlating variables that have, and have not, received scholarly attention in depression-related research within the field of sport psychology. Although there have been some reviews that have scoped the broader trends in the emerging literature (Gouttebauge et al., 2019; Küttel & Larsen, 2019), these have focused on a range of different mental health issues, limiting their depth of information concerning research on depressive symptoms.

Against this backdrop, the overarching goal of this review ~~is~~ was to gain a more comprehensive understanding on how depressive symptoms research has been conducted, what type of correlating variables scholarly attention has been given precedence to, and where more attention may be warranted. By taking this approach we hoped to fill in an important gap that has been left uncovered by previous reviews in the field.

### **The current review**

As a scoping review is often utilized when the emerging literature has not been reviewed comprehensively (Peterson et al., 2017), this approach was deemed the most

appropriate for conducting the current review. A scoping review is especially useful when the aim is to identify how research has been conducted, the factors that relate to the concept of interest, and the gaps that exist in the empirical knowledge base (Munn et al., 2018). As the focus of this review ~~is~~ was not to collate empirical evidence from a narrowly defined research topic (Munn et al., 2018), we did not undertake a risk of bias or quality appraisal of the included studies (Tricco et al., 2018). However, by exploring the methodological and sample characteristics (e.g., assessment tools, type of sport or sex of the athletes across a range of studies) and what the research has focused on (e.g., concussion and depressive symptoms), findings from this review can inform future research of the methodological issues that may warrant further attention (Daudt et al., 2013).

A diagnostic interview is the gold standard for the assessment and diagnosis of clinical depression (MDD), while depression questionnaires are utilized to assess level and severity of depressive symptoms (Ingram et al., 2015). It has been noted that most studies in athletes have utilized questionnaires to assess depression, and that more research on MDD in athletes is needed (Golding et al., 2020; Gorczynski et al., 2017). We agree with this notion, however, it is likely that the challenges with cost and time, as well as the availability of qualified clinicians for conducting clinical interviews, will continue to influence the choice of utilizing questionnaires over diagnostic interviews in research. Depressive symptoms in themselves can also be a significant source of distress and impairment, and has been linked with an increased risk for developing MDD (Ingram et al., 2015). Indeed, the study of depressive symptomatology has been highlighted as an important area of research in athletes (Reardon et al., 2019). With these considerations in mind, in this review we focused specifically on research that has assessed depressive symptoms in athletes.

Individual differences in depression can be understood from a cognitive vulnerability perspective - individuals differ in their thoughts, inferences, attitudes, attention, and memory processes – laying the foundation by which individuals differ in their responses to stressors (e.g. negative life-events; Joormann & Arditte, 2015). Cognitive vulnerability theories posit that vulnerable individuals are more likely to engage in maladaptive thought processes (e.g. rumination) in response to negative events, and are therefore at an increased risk for developing depression (Abramson et al., 2002; Joormann & Arditte, 2015). Within the clinical psychology domain, Hankin (2012), however, underlined the importance of considering cognitive vulnerability from a multilevel perspective (Hankin, 2012). As proposed in his conceptual model, a more comprehensive understanding of the development of depression can be gained by considering the interaction between several within person vulnerabilities (e.g. genes, physiology, cognitive vulnerabilities), social and interpersonal influences, and the proximal environmental contexts (micro- and meso-level factors), and influences emanating from the broader sociocultural contexts (i.e. macro-level influences). Similar ideas have recently been echoed in the sport psychology domain, calling for a broader, multilevel approach to understanding mental health in athletes (Purcell et al., 2019). With these considerations in mind, in our review we adapted the multi-level model proposed by Hankin (2012) to categorize and visually illustrate the different variables/topics that research has tested in relation to depressive symptoms in athletes.

In sum, the first aim of this scoping review ~~is~~was to systematically identify the methodological characteristics of the research that has assessed depressive symptoms in athletes. The second aim ~~is~~was to identify the variables/topics that have been directly tested (statistically) in relation to these symptoms.

## Methods

The review process was guided by the framework proposed by Arksey and O'Malley (2005), which includes five distinct stages - 1) identifying the research question; 2) identifying relevant studies; 3) study selection; 4) charting the data; 5) collating, summarizing, and reporting the results.

### Identifying the Research Question

We formulated our broad research question as follows - 'what are the characteristics of the studies that have assessed depressive symptoms in athletes and what type of variables has been tested in relation to these symptoms'. The specific objectives related to these research questions were to: 1) identify the overall publication trends including number of primary studies by year, and country; 2) identify the study methodology and instrumentation; 3) identify sample characteristics; and 4) identify the variables/topics that have been explicitly measured in relation to depressive symptoms.

### Identifying Rrelevant Studies

Initially we conducted searches between September 2018 and February 2019. Considering that depression and depressive symptoms have often been used interchangeably in the athlete literature (Schuch, 2015), our search strategy was to allow for the inclusion of both these terms. We first used the search terms 'Depress\* AND athlete\*' across all the databases including: [Academic Search Complete](#), [CINAHL Plus with Full Text](#), [Education Research Complete](#), [ERIC](#), [Medline](#), [OpenDissertations](#), [SportDiscus with Full Text](#), [PsychArticles](#), [PsychInfo](#), [OpenGrey](#), [Science Direct](#), [Google Scholar](#), and [PubMed](#). Following our initial search, we utilized more specified Boolean search terms in the following databases; Medline ([MM "Depression" OR MM "Mental Health" OR MM "Mental Disorders"](#)) AND ([MM "Athletes" OR MM](#)

"Sports"), PubMed (("Depression"[Mesh] OR "Depressive Disorder"[Mesh] OR "Depressive Disorder, Major"[Mesh]) AND "Athletes"[Mesh]), SportDiscuss (DE "MENTAL depression" OR DE "MENTAL health" OR DE "MENTAL health of athletes" OR DE "MENTAL illness") AND (DE "ATHLETES" OR DE "SPORTS"), and Cinahl (MM "Depression" OR MM "Mental Health" OR MM "Mental Disorders") AND (MM "Athletes" OR MM "SPORTS"). Finally, we conducted hand searches for additional research papers in key articles' reference lists, and in seven different sport psychology journals including; *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology, International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, Journal of Applied Sport Psychology, Journal of Sport Psychology in Action, Psychology of Sport and Exercise, Sport, Exercise, and Performance Psychology, and The Sport Psychologist*. All search results were exported to a referencing software (Zotero) and then to a systematic review software (DistillerSR, Evidence Partners, Ottawa, Canada). We used the DistillerSR systematic review software version 2.27.0 for removing duplicate records, and for the screening, and extraction of articles for the review. All searches were repeated 10.9.2019 - 24.9.2019 to search for additional research published between September 2018 and September 2019.

{Table 1 here}

### **Study Selection**

The following inclusion criteria for articles were set: 1)(a) primary research utilizing depression questionnaires to assess depressive symptoms 2)(b) any design such as cross-sectional, longitudinal, or intervention design, 2)(c) sample defined as able bodied or disabled athletes or competitors in a sport (current or former); including any competition level such as professional, Olympic/Paralympic, elite, national, international, or regional, or student athletes, 3)(d) all ages, and 5)(e) manuscripts or



abstracts written in the English language. Although we utilised only English search terms, non-English articles with English abstracts were included if all other criteria were met.

The following exclusion criteria were set: ~~1~~(a) secondary data (e.g. reviews or commentaries), ~~2~~(b) studies not identifying participants as athletes or competitors in a sport, ~~3~~(c) sample defined merely as participants engaging in physical activity, ~~4~~(d) no depression questionnaire or measures assessing merely mood or affect, and ~~5~~(e) measures that produce a global score without specifically referring to depressive symptoms.

Based on the final inclusion/exclusion criteria, each article identified by our search was screened for title by the first author (RT). Articles that were included or articles that needed further screening based on the title advanced to the abstract and full-text screening stage. RT conducted all screening and extraction procedures; however, an integrity check was conducted at the level of abstract and full text screening on 20% (n=136) of the articles by the third author (RM). Of these randomly selected records, RT and RM agreed on inclusion of 29 records and exclusion of 96, and hence, the proportional overall agreement was 92% [(29+96)/136]. None of the studies initially included by RT were excluded, however, one study that was initially excluded by RT (Donohue et al., 2015) was included after the integrity check by RM.

We identified 8062 records through our initial database searches in 2018. With the additional searches conducted in September 2019, the total number of records identified ~~were-was~~ 9035 (Figure 1). After removing duplicates, 6983 records were screened for title, of which 679 records advanced to full text/abstract screening. Of the 679 texts assessed for eligibility, 148 articles were included. We identified seven additional articles through hand searches, and we added two additional records

following the integrity checks. Hence, 157 articles were included in the final scoping review. Of the included studies, 1467 were in full-text format and 110 in abstract format.

[Figure 1 here]

Following the screening process, RT extracted information from all the included studies. The second author (JS) utilized the same extraction sheet as RT to independently extract information on 31 (20%) randomly selected studies. No significant disagreements emerged between the authors. However, one dissertation included two studies, and this record was included as two separate studies instead of one (Fraser, 2017). The following information was extracted for data synthesis; *article format (i.e. abstract or full text), title, journal, author(s), year of publication, country/countries, aim(s), design, number of depression symptom assessments (in longitudinal/intervention studies), sample size, response rate reported (yes/no), sample sex, sample age, sample sport and competition level, competitive status (current and/or former athletes), non-athlete control/comparison group, depressive symptoms measure, reliability coefficients and cut-off scores utilized for the measure, theoretical approach to depressive symptoms, variables tested (statistically) in relation to depressive symptoms.*

### **Charting the data**

~~We reported number of publications by year and country in figures.~~ The research designs and number of depressive symptoms assessments, and the depressive symptoms measures and their reported reliability coefficients, ~~age across sample gender, and competition level across competition status (current/former)~~ were collated in tables.

Variables that were statistically tested and reported in relation to depressive symptoms were recorded for each individual study and collated in figures. Variables that were included in statistical models without being individually tested and/or reported in relation to depressive symptoms (e.g., as control variables), were not, however, included. All identified variables were organized under categories within a multilevel conceptual model adapted from Hankin (2012) as follows; within-individual variables (e.g., genetic, biophysiological, cognitive/behavioural), proximal contexts and social and interpersonal influences (i.e. micro- and meso-level variables), and macro-level variables (e.g. culture, ethnicity). Overall frequencies of the occurrence (i.e. tested in relation to depressive symptoms) of each variable across the studies ~~was~~were also reported in figures separately for cross-sectional and longitudinal studies.

## Results

The included studies were published between the years 1987 and 2019 (as of ~~by~~ September 2019; Figure 2). From 1987 to 2013, the frequency of studies ranged from 0 to 6 studies per year. Sixty-nine percent of studies were published after the year 2013, ~~and with~~ publication frequency ~~ranged~~ranging from 11 to 27 studies per year (as of ~~by~~ September 2019). Excluding dissertations (n=13), studies were published in 91 different scientific journals. Journals in which studies were most often published ( $n \geq 3$ ) included; *British Journal of Sports Medicine* (n=3), *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine* (n=5), *European Journal of Sport Science* (n=3), *Frontiers in Psychology* (n=4), *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology* (n=19), *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* (n=6), *Psychology of Sport & Exercise* (n=4), and *The American Journal of Sports Medicine* (n=4).

{Figure 2 here}

Studies were conducted in 28 different countries with the majority conducted in the United States (n= 77, 49.0%; [Figure 3](#)). Twelve (7.6%) studies were conducted in Germany and 10 in Canada (6.4%). Three studies (2%) were conducted in multiple countries (e.g., Sweden/Denmark and New Zealand/Australia).

[\[Figure 3 here\]](#)

### **Methodology and Instrumentation**

Most studies utilized a cross-sectional design (n=116, 73.9%) and 35 studies (22.3%) were longitudinal. Approximately 20% of the longitudinal studies measured depressive symptoms only at one time point, either as a predictive variable for other prospective outcome measures (measured at baseline), or as an outcome measure of other prospective predictors (measured at follow-up) ([Table 21](#)). Six (3.8%) of the included studies utilized an intervention design, of which 2 studies were identified as randomized controlled trials (Donohue et al., 2018; Glass et al., 2019).

[\[Table 21 here\]](#)

Of the 28 different self-report measures identified, the most commonly utilized was the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D; Radloff, 1977), with 32 studies (20.4%) utilizing the standard CES-D and an additional 5 studies utilizing modified versions ([Table 32](#)). Other measures that were commonly utilized were the Beck Depression Inventory-II (12.5%; BDI-II; Beck et al., 1996), the Beck Depression Inventory (11.9%; BDI; Beck et al., 1961), and the nine-item Patient Health Questionnaire (13.1%; PHQ-9; Kroenke [and Spitzer](#), 2002). Two studies utilized

depression measures specifically designed for athletes, that is, the Baron Depression Screener for Athletes (BDSA; Polat et al., 2015) and the Stress Response Scale for athletes – depression scale (Hagiwara et al., 2017).

Thirty-six studies (23.0%) assessed internal consistency coefficients at one time point or across several time points, with alpha coefficient ranging from  $\alpha = .38$  for the Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI), to  $\alpha = .94$  for the BDI and the BDI-II (Table 32). Six studies reported reliability coefficients over time; Manuel et al. (2002; BDI = .88-.95), McGuire et al. (2017; PHQ-9 = .67-.85), Lancaster et al. (2016; Brief Symptom Inventory = .38-.76), Smith et al. (2018; CES-D = .86 - .89), Shanmugam et al. (2014; Symptom Checklist-90-Revised = .89- .91, and Wang et al. (2017; Symptom Checklist-90-Revised = .88-.90).

[Table 32 here]

Half of the studies (n= 79, 50.3%) reported prevalence rates (table 32). For the BDI three studies reported prevalence across different severity (Barmi, 2011; Leddy & Lambert, 1994; Rodrigues et al., 2017), one study used cut-off >10 (Haslacher et al., 2015), one study >13 (Willer et al., 2018), one study >15 (Manuel et al., 2002), and one study >17 (Levit et al., 2018) when reporting prevalence rates. For the BDI-II, four studies reported prevalence across different severity (Brett et al., 2019; Bunce, 2014; Chen et al., 2008; Covassin et al., 2012), two studies used cut-off >10 (Covassin et al., 2019; Didehbani et al., 2013), two studies  $\geq 12$  (Lodis et al., 2012; Uglesić et al., 2014), three studies >13 (Baker et al., 2018; Hammond et al., 2013; Strain et al., 2017), and one study  $\geq 17$  (Thomson & Jaque, 2016) when reporting prevalence. For CES-D all except one study (Nixdorf et al., 2013,  $\geq 23$ ) used a cut-off score  $\geq 16$  (n=19). Eight

studies reported prevalence using additional cut-offs scores (i.e. 21, 23 and/or 27).

Finally, in ten studies utilizing PHQ-9, prevalence was reported using a cut-off score  $\geq 10$ , a cut-off  $> 14$  was used in one study (Gerber et al., 2018), and one study reported prevalence across different levels of severity (McGuire, 2014) (for information on cut-off scores for all included studies see appendix 1).

### Sample Characteristics

In 58 studies (36.9%) the athlete sample consisted of  $< 100$  participants. In 35 studies (22.3%) sample size was 100 -199, and in 25 studies (15.9%) the sample size was 200-299. Twelve studies (7.6%) reported an athlete sample of 300-399, and four studies (2.5%) 400-499 athletes. Finally, 22 studies (13.8%) consisted of  $\geq 500$  athletes.

One study did not report the sample size of athletes (Dishman et al., 2006). Response rate for the sample was reported in 67 studies (42.7%). In studies that reported prevalence rates (N=79), response rate was reported in 38 studies (48.1%). In studies where prevalence was reported for samples with less than 100 participants (N=27, 34.2%), response rate was reported in nine studies (33.3%). In studies that reported prevalence rates for samples ranging between 100 and 299 participants (N=29, 36.7%), response rate was reported in 15 studies (51.7%). Furthermore, in the 23 studies that reported prevalence rates for samples including  $\geq 300$  participants, 10 studies (43.5%) reported response rates.

~~Mean age range by sample sex is shown in Table 4.~~ Sample overall mean age range was coded for 134 studies (85.4%), with majority of athlete samples consisting of athletes with a mean age between 16 and 30 years (n=96, 61.2%). Twelve studies (7.6%) focused on athletes with a mean age under the age of 16, and 26 studies (16.5%) included athletes with mean age 31 years or older. We were unable to code mean age for 23 (14.6%) studies. While five studies (3.2%) did not report sample sex for athletes,

most studies included male and female athletes (n = 97, 61.8%). Of the studies that focused on one sex (n= 55, 35.1%), 81.8% focused on male athletes (n=45) and 18.2% (n=10) on female athletes.

~~{Table 4 here}~~

Samples included athletes from multiple ( $\geq 2$ ) sports (n = 89, 56.7%), or one specific sport (n=39, 24.8%), and 29 studies (18.5%) did not specify the included sports. Although most multisport samples included a range of different sports, some included a more select group of sports such as boxing (and athlete controls, n=1), Gaelic games (n=1), swimming and track and field (n=1), marathon and endurance cycling (n=1), ice hockey and American football (and athlete controls, n=2), Wheelchair basketball and rugby (n=1), and rugby (and athlete controls, n=1). In the studies that focused specifically on one sport, the most frequently included sports were American football (n=13) and soccer (n = 10). The remaining single-sport samples included athletes from baseball (n = 2), cross-country running (n=1), ice hockey (n = 3), rhythmic gymnastics (n = 1), rugby (n = 1), running (n = 2), rowing (n = 1), swimming (n = 1), (para) track and field (n = 1), ultra-marathon (n = 1), wheelchair rugby (n = 1), and wrestling (n = 1). Only five studies explicitly reported the inclusion of disabled athletes.

~~As can be seen in Table 5, m~~Most studies focused on current athletes (n = 133), in which the samples most frequently consisted of university/collegiate athletes (39.8%), followed by athletes from multiple ( $\geq 2$ ) competition levels (19.5%) and elite athletes (14.3%). In studies where the sample consisted of former athletes (n = 18), professional athletes were most frequently represented (33.3%). In five studies both current and former athletes were included, and in one study it was unclear whether participants were current or former athletes (Jewett et al., 2014).

[Table 5 here]

Non-athlete comparison groups were included in 45 studies (28.7%), of which 28 studies (62.2%) included student samples, 7 studies (15.6%) matched controls, 7 (15.6%) studies other specified samples (e.g. patients entering eating disorder treatment), and 3 studies (6.7%) non-athletes that were not specified. Additionally, six studies (3.8%) compared athletes' depressive symptom scores to existing population norms.

### **Research emphasis**

We identified 40 studies (25.5%) that were explicitly informed by a theory or theories to explore depressive symptoms in athletes (appendix 1). These studies were informed by several different theories; however, most theoretical approaches were ingrained in vulnerability (diathesis)-stress models (n=12, 30.0%), and theories of identity and psychosocial development (n=7, 17.5%), and motivation (n=5, 12.5%).

Seventy-two different variables/topics were identified as being tested in relation to depressive symptoms across the included studies, with variables/topics occurring 497 times across the 157 studies. As can be seen in Figure 4-2 (for study specific information see appendix 1), research measured sport-specific (e.g. type of sport) (36.4%) and generic (e.g. age) (31.5%) variables/topics in relation to depressive symptoms, relating to social, interpersonal, and contextual variables (i.e. micro- and meso-level). Within-individual vulnerabilities (e.g. neurocognitive performance, identity, genetics) accounted for 17.2%, while only 5% of all 497 observations accounted for macro-level variables (e.g. population norms, ethnicity).



[Figure [4-2](#) here]

In the 116 cross-sectional studies, the most frequently tested variables/topics in relation to depressive symptoms were - age (n= 19), athletes vs. non-athletes (n= 37), anxiety (n= 11), concussion (n= 15), sex (n= 34), injury (n= 16), level of sport (n= 13), pain/ache (n= 10), retirement related issues (n= 11), and type of sport (n=25) (Figure [35](#)). Collectively these variables/topics accounted for 51.5% of all 371 observations recorded across the 116 cross-sectional studies.

[Figure [35](#) here]

Out of the 35 longitudinal studies (defined as studies including at least two prospective time points of analysis, excluding intervention designs), two studies measured depression only in relation to time. Out of the remaining 33 longitudinal studies, the most frequently measured variables included -age (n= 8), anxiety (n=5), concussion (n=11), ethnicity (n= 6), injury (n= 9), sex (n=16), and type of sport (n=7; Figure [64](#)). Collectively these variables/topics accounted for 50% of all 124 observations recorded for the 33 longitudinal studies.

[Figure [6-4](#) here]

Six studies used an intervention design of which one was conducted with amateur baseball players in Taiwan (Chen et al., 2019), one with elite athletes (sport not specified) and non-athletes in Turkey (Feyzioglu et al., 2019), and four with collegiate athletes from multiple sports in the United States (Donohue et al., 2015, 2018; Glass et

al., 2019; Goodman et al., 2014). While all intervention studies measured depressive symptoms over time, only two studies measured other correlates in relation to depression. One study measured depression in relation to diagnosed mental disorders (Donohue et al., 2018) and one study compared differences between athletes and non-athletes (Feyzioglu et al., 2019). ~~None of the intervention studies were specifically focused on treatment of depression—~~Five interventions were aimed at improving mental health/well-being and/or performance related outcomes, and one intervention was focused on pain and functionality following an anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) surgery (Feyzioglu et al., 2019). Two studies utilized the same multi-component cognitive-behavioural approach (Donohue et al., 2015, 2018), while three interventions utilized a mindfulness-based approach (Chen et al., 2019; Glass et al., 2019; Goodman et al., 2014). In one study, the intervention consisted of an accelerated physiotherapy (physiological) rehabilitation program (Feyzioglu et al., 2019).~~For one study the intervention protocol was not clear as we were unable to acquire a full text version of the study.~~

## Discussion

In this scoping review, we systematically reviewed research that has assessed depressive symptoms in athletes and collated the methodological characteristics of these studies. We also mapped correlate variables that have been directly tested in relation to depressive symptoms. Similar to research on mental health issues in more general (Gouttebauge et al., 2019), there has been a notable increase in depression-related research in athletes within the past few years. Our findings showed that 69% of studies assessing depressive symptoms in athletes were published after 2013 (as of by the end

of September 2019). Another notable finding was that more than half of the studies included in our review were conducted in North America. It is important to note, however, that our search included merely research published in the English language and hence our findings should be interpreted with this bias in mind. Nevertheless, our findings underline the importance of further stimulating depression-related research projects and publications in athlete samples across different cultural contexts.

### **Methodological characteristics**

Most studies were cross-sectional (73.9%), while 35 studies (22.3%) utilized a longitudinal design. This is in line with findings from previous reviews (Golding et al., 2020; Küttel & Larsen, 2019; Rice et al., 2018; Rice et al., 2016), suggesting that we know little about the temporal relationships between potential risk factors and depressive symptoms. Furthermore, although most longitudinal studies assessed depressive symptoms at least two or more time points, approximately 20% of the longitudinal studies measured depressive symptoms only at one time point, either as a predictive variable (measured only at baseline) for other prospective outcome measures, or as an outcome measure (measured only at follow-up) of other prospective predictors. As Reardon and Factor (2010) note:

...athletes' depression might have nothing to do with their athletic pursuits or the athletic pursuits could be their way of coping with depression, or it even could be caused by athletic participation. These possibilities have not been studied *per se*. (p. 963).

A decade later, many of these unanswered questions remain. Although it is unlikely that a single causal pathway or mechanism can ever fully explain the development, maintenance, and/or recurrence of depression (Hankin, 2012), prospective designs are needed to disentangle the relative influence of sport-specific and generic factors on

depressive symptoms. An improved understanding of these relationships would significantly enhance our ability to prevent and treat depression in the athlete population. We also identified that there is a general lack of intervention studies that have assessed depressive symptoms. Only one study tested an athlete specific treatment program to traditional counselling program, and reported overall more beneficial mental health outcomes in the athlete specific program (Donohue et al., 2018). However, more research is needed to test and develop effective and feasible interventions for athletes.

Previous findings suggest that there is an on-going debate concerning athletes' risk status in comparison to non-athletes (Armstrong et al., 2015; Gorczynski et al., 2017). As discussed by Goutteborge et al. (2019) in relation to mental health issues in general, drawing conclusions about the differences between athletes and non-athletes has been problematic as studies have not utilized reference groups from the general population. This is an important dimension to the debate as findings will have different implications depending on whether comparisons are made against student samples, clinical samples, or age matched controls from the general population. In our review, in the studies that included non-athlete comparison groups, 62% consisted of student samples. Furthermore, our findings suggested that approximately one third of studies reporting prevalence rates consisted of less than 100 participants. Also, less than half of the studies that reported prevalence rates reported response rates for the sample. Hence, to date our understanding of the representativeness of findings concerning the prevalence of clinically significant depressive symptoms athletes' risk status in athletes is largely unknown. Furthermore, evidence concerning athletes' risk status in comparison to non-athletes is largely based on comparisons to this specific population student populations, rather than the general population. Future studies exploring prevalence rates in athletes would therefore benefit from including more representative

[samples of athletes to better inform of their susceptibility to depressive symptoms in relation to the rates observed in the general population.](#)

As shown in our review, a range of different assessment tools have been utilized, imposing different cut-off criteria for reporting prevalence rates. There seems, however, to be a positive trend towards utilizing screening tools that have been well-validated, such as the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D; Radloff, 1977), the Beck Depression inventory-II (BDI-II; Beck ~~et al., Steer, & Brown,~~ 1996), the Beck Depression inventory (BDI; Beck, ~~Ward, Mendelson, Mock, and Erbaugh,~~ et al., 1961), and the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9; Kroenke and Spitzer, 2002). These measures accounted for 57.3% of the measures utilized across the studies, and a continued use of these measures is important to promote consistency in the assessment of depressive symptoms in athletes. Future studies may, however, consider reporting prevalence rates across different levels of severity (rather than merely one single cut-off) to provide more transparent perspective of symptom prevalence in athletes.

Some scholars have suggested that screening tools for mental health issues should be validated or specifically developed for athletes (Baron et al., 2013; Gouttebarga et al., 2019; Küttel & Larsen, 2019; Polat et al., 2015). Two athlete specific measures were identified in our review; the Baron Depression Screener for Athletes (BDSA; Polat et al., 2015) and the Stress Response Scale for Athletes - depression scale (Hagiwara et al., 2017). However, internal consistency was reported only for the BDSA with internal consistency  $\alpha = .65$  (Polat et al., 2015). Overall, only 23% of the studies reported internal consistency of the scale. Studies that utilized one of the four most commonly utilized measures reported alphas between .67 and .94, while some other measures reported significantly lower (e.g. PHQ-2 = .45; Ohlert et al., 2019). Hence,

echoing notions made by Gouttebarga et al. (2019), future research would benefit from more research on the psychometric properties of different depression scales in athletes.

Considering that questionnaires have been the most common method of assessment in depression-related research in athletes (Golding et al., 2020) – current knowledge concerning the prevalence of major depressive disorder (MDD) is almost non-existent in this population (for notable exceptions see Appaneal et al., 2009; Schaal et al., 2011). Nevertheless, research in athletes have rarely made an explicit distinction between clinical and sub-clinical depression – often utilising the terms depression and depressive symptoms interchangeably when discussing results concerning clinically significant depressive symptoms. This could potentially cloud the meaning and interpretation of findings across studies (Schuch, 2015). While some studies have been more explicit in terms of making this distinction (e.g., Belz et al., 2018; Weber et al., 2018), some studies also identify the inability of depression questionnaires to provide a diagnosis of MDD as a limitation of their study (e.g. Beable et al., 2017; Weber et al., 2018). It could, however, be argued that, in this context, utilising questionnaires would pose a limitation only if the objective of the research was to assess the prevalence of MDD. As depression questionnaires are not designed to provide this information (Levis et al., 2020), identifying them as a limitation in this context could potentially convey a paradoxical message - implicitly suggesting that the objective of the research was to estimate the prevalence of MDD. As underlined by Ingram et al. (2015), a clinically relevant score on a questionnaire can be observed in the absence of the two cardinal, mood-related symptoms required for the diagnosis of MDD. Hence, interpreting clinically significant depressive symptoms as a proxy for MDD would be problematic. Future research within the field may therefore consider using more precise terminology when discussing and interpreting findings concerning depressive symptoms in athletes.

Also, rather than perceiving the use of depression questionnaires as a limitation per se, future studies could explore the potential opportunities symptom-based assessment could offer. For example, considering that individuals may experience vastly different symptoms of depression (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Ingram et al., 2015) a detailed exploration of athletes' symptom profiles in future research (rather than merely reporting overall scale scores) may prove useful in providing a richer understanding of potential symptoms that may be especially relevant in athletes.

### **Sample Characteristics**

Most studies included both male and female athletes (61.8%). Of the studies that focused on one gender, more than 80 percent focused on male athletes. This is in line with findings by Küttel and Larsen (2019) on athlete mental health in general, where 12 studies included male only samples, and three studies female only samples. This disparity is interesting (and perhaps troubling), considering that female athletes have shown to report higher prevalence of depressive symptoms than males (Golding et al., 2020; Wolanin et al., 2015).

In relation to the type of sports that have been prominent in research, more than 20% did not specify the type of sports athletes competed in. Additionally, of those who did report, only 1/3 of the studies focused on specific sports, with the majority focusing on American football and soccer. These findings support the notion made by Junge and Feddermann-Demont (2016) that relatively few studies have explored depressive symptoms within specific sports. Identifying the context which studies have taken place in and reporting findings for specific sports is important as this can further improve our understanding of the potential sport-specific variables that need to be considered in future prevention efforts. For example, although evidence suggests that the context of individual sports may pose a specific risk in athletes (Beable et al., 2017; Nixdorf et al.,

2016; Schaal et al., 2011), the sport-environment (and hence stressors) is likely to significantly differ depending on the specific type of individual (or team) sport (consider for example contextual differences in figure skating, tennis, fencing, boxing, or rallycross). As noted by Purcell et al. (2019):

Any mental health framework that ignores wider ecological factors runs the risk of focusing exclusively on, and potentially pathologising the individual athlete, when other factors may be more influential in contributing to, or perpetuating, poor mental health (p.3).

If the context is not outlined or studies carried out in a broader range of sports, identifying relevant sport-specific ecological factors may not be possible, meaning intervention-that multilevel approaches to prevention and intervention may not be tailored appropriately.

Most studies focused on current university/collegiate athletes (39.8%), which could explain why most studies also utilized student sample comparison groups. Approximately 20% of the studies ~~in current athletes~~ included athletes from multiple competition levels (e.g. regional, national, or international) and about 14% included elite athletes. It should be noted though, that some of the athletes identified as University or collegiate athletes could have also been classified as elite athletes (Swann et al., 2015). Considering that a majority of studies have been conducted with multisport samples, evaluating the influence of competition level to depressive symptoms may be challenging. Although some studies do exist (Junge & Feddermann-Demont, 2016; Nylandsted Jensen et al., 2018), future studies may want to further explore the relationship between competitive level and depressive symptoms within the same sport context. Furthermore, it would be important to identify the mediators and/or moderators in the relationship between competitive level and elevated depressive symptoms. This



could subsequently allow for a better identification of the central factors that need to be attended to when optimizing athlete mental health across different levels.

In contrast to studies in current athletes, among retired athletes, professional athletes were most frequently represented (33.3%). This may suggest that access to professional athletes during their active careers may be challenging. Although some studies compared depression between current and former athletes, more longitudinal research is needed to understand the prospective patterns in the development of depressive symptoms across the athletic career.

### **Research emphasis**

We identified a range of different variables that research has focused on in relation to depressive symptoms. We adapted a multi-level conceptual model from Hankin (2012) to visually contextualise the type of variables that have been of interest in relation to depressive symptoms. Overall, research tested a wide range of proximal sport-specific (e.g., concussion/injury, type of sport) and generic (e.g., age, sex) variables in relation to depressive symptoms. Although many of these can be considered as individual level risk factors (e.g. age, sex, injury, concussion, retirement), their effects on depression may also operate through the larger sports context. Also, many of these variables are unmodifiable (e.g. sex, ethnicity, type of sport). Therefore, it may be difficult to target these (and other) risk-factors at the individual level, and more multi-level approaches to prevention and treatment may be required instead (Purcell et al., 2019).

We found that few studies were explicitly informed by theory in their aim to explore depressive symptomatology in athletes. Of the 40 studies that were

identified (25.5%), most theoretical approaches were ingrained in vulnerability-stress models and theories of identity, psychosocial development, and motivation.

As underlined by Joormann and Arditte (2015), one of the central topics in depression research in the clinical psychology domain has involved the study of vulnerability and resilience. According to our findings, however, a minority of studies have directly tested these variables in relation to depressive symptoms in athletes. For example, cognitive concepts that have been widely researched in clinically oriented psychology research (i.e. perfectionism, attributional style, schemas/beliefs, thought suppression, coping, resilience; (Hankin, 2012; Joormann & Arditte, 2015), collectively accounted for only 3% (n=14) of all the observed measurements in this review. Furthermore, although we identified several within-individual variables that have been measured in relation to depressive symptoms, few studies assessed the same variable(s), suggesting that research on within-individual vulnerability is fragmented. To better support athletes, future studies may hence want to increase focus on theoretically informed approaches to exploring within-individual processes or constructs that have been well-researched within the field of clinical psychology (e.g. rumination, negative cognitive styles, perfectionism), and their interaction with both generic and sport-specific social and contextual risk factors. Considering that interventions targeting both athletic performance and mental health issues may be appealing to athletes (Donohue et al., 2018), exploring attentional processes, such as rumination, could be especially interesting in athletes as they may significantly impact on athletic performance (Bennet et al., 2016; Swann et al., 2017) and depressive symptoms and other mental health issues (Watkins, 2009).

## Limitations

Although we had a broad inclusion criterion in terms of the athlete samples, methodology, and research agenda, we focused merely on research that has assessed depression through self-report measures. Future reviews may hence want to review focus on depression literature that has assessed depression by other means not captured by our review (e.g. clinical interviews/scales that were not included in this review). Also, future reviews could focus on the research literature that has utilized in-depth interviews, especially in terms of mapping the specific contextual and with-in individual factors that may relate to depression or depressive symptoms. We also excluded studies that were not written in the English language, and therefore our findings should be interpreted with this cultural bias in mind. Finally, mapping such a broad area of variables was not without its challenges as several of the identified variables could be understood from a generic or sport-specific perspective, and may operate at multiple levels on depressive symptoms. Nevertheless, our review provides a new perspective on current research practices in the study of depressive symptoms in athletes. Findings in this review may hence allow future research to more systematically target research efforts in areas where knowledge is still lacking.

## Conclusions

Research on athlete depression is rapidly increasing. We, however, identified several gaps that warrant more scholarly attention. Most studies have been cross-sectional, utilized athlete samples from several different sports, and utilized student samples as comparison groups. Hence, there is a need for longitudinal studies within specific sports to better disentangle the relative influence of, and interaction between, sport-specific and generic risk factors on the development of depressive symptoms in

athletes. Although most studies utilized screening measures that are well-validated in the general population, we identified 28 measures that have been utilized to measure depressive symptoms in athletes. Future research would benefit from more consistency in the utilization of screening tools, and evidence of the psychometric properties is also warranted. Although studies have explored generic and sport-specific factors within the athletes' proximal environment, very few studies have explored the wider cultural or macro-level influences. Also, research on within-individual vulnerability is fragmented and needs to be further explored in relation to contextual determinants to improve individual-level support initiatives.

## References

- Abramson, L. Y., Alloy, L. B., Hankin, B. L., Haefffel, G. J., MacCoon, D. G., & Gibb, B. E. (2002). Cognitive Vulnerability-Stress Models of Depression in a self-Regulatory and Psychobiological Context. In [Gotlib, I. H., & Hammen, C. L. \(Eds.\), \*Handbook of depression \(2nd ed., pp. 268–294\)\*. The Guilford Press.](#)
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5®)*. American Psychiatric Publishing.  
<https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596>
- [Appaneal, R. N., Levine, B. R., Perna, F. M., & Roh, J. L. \(2009\). Measuring Postinjury Depression Among Male and Female Competitive Athletes. \*Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology\*, 31\(1\), 60–76. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.31.1.60>](#)
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping Studies: Towards a Methodological Framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8(1), 19–32. <https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616>
- Armstrong, S. N., Burcin, M. M., Bjerke, W. S., & Early, J. (2015). Depression in Student Athletes: A Particularly At-Risk Group? A Systematic Review of the Literature. *Athletic Insight*, 7(2), 177.
- Baker, J. G., Leddy, J. J., Hinds, A. L., Haider, M. N., Shucard, J., Sharma, T., Hernandez, S., Durinka, J., Zivadinov, R., & Willer, B. S. (2018). An Exploratory Study of Mild Cognitive Impairment of Retired Professional Contact Sport Athletes. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, [33\(5\):E16-E23. <https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.0000000000000420>](#)
- Barmi, M. R. (2011). A Comparative Study of Depression Level among Male Athletic Students Engaged in Individual and Team Sports Versus Male Non-Athletic Students of Schools from the Second Board of Education in Karaj, Iran. *2nd*

- World Conference on Psychology, Counselling and Guidance - 2011*, 30, 352–356. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.10.069>
- Baron, D. A., Baron, S. H., Tompkins, J., & Polat, A. (2013). Assessing and Treating Depression in Athletes. In D. A. Baron, C. L. Reardon, & S. H. Baron (Eds.), *Clinical sports psychiatry: An international perspective* (pp. 65–78). Wiley-Blackwell. <https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118404904>
- Beable, S., Fulcher, M., Lee, A. C., & Hamilton, B. (2017). SHARPSports mental Health Awareness Research Project: Prevalence and risk factors of depressive symptoms and life stress in elite athletes. *Journal of Science & Medicine in Sport*, 20(12), 1047–1052. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2017.04.018>
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. K. Ball, R., & Ranieri, W.F. (1996). Comparison of Beck Depression Inventories-IA and-II in Psychiatric Outpatients. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 67:3, 588-597. [https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa6703\\_13](https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa6703_13)
- Beck, A. T., Ward, C. H., Mendelson, M., Mock, J., & Erbaugh, J. (1961). An Inventory for Measuring Depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 4(6), 561–571. <https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1961.01710120031004>
- Belz, J., Kleinert, J., Ohlert, J., Rau, T., & Allroggen, M. (2018). Risk for Depression and Psychological Well-Being in German National and State Team Athletes–Associations with Age, Gender, and Performance Level. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 1–29. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.2016-0024>
- Bennett, J., Rotherham, M., Hays, K., Olusoga, P., & Maynard, I. (2016). Yips and Lost Move Syndrome: Assessing impact and exploring levels of perfectionism, rumination, and reinvestment. *Sport and Exercise Psychology Review*, 12(1).

- Breslau, J., Gilman, S. E., Stein, B. D., Ruder, T., Gmelin, T., & Miller, E. (2017). Sex Differences in Recent First-Onset Depression in an Epidemiological Sample of Adolescents. *Translational Psychiatry*, 7(5). <https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2017.105>
- Brett, B. L., Mummareddy, N., Kuhn, A. W., Yengo-Kahn, A. M., & Zuckerman, S. L. (2019). The Relationship between Prior Concussions and Depression is Modified by Somatic Symptomatology in Retired NFL Athletes. *The Journal Of Neuropsychiatry And Clinical Neurosciences*, 31(1), 17–24. <https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.neuropsych.18040080>
- Bunce, J. R. (2014). *Injury Experiences in NCAA Division I College Sports: Self-concept, Athletic Identity, Mood, and Culture*—[Doctoral dissertation, John F. Kennedy University]. ProQuest Central. [https://search.proquest.com/docview/1459228108?accountid=49537\(1604761327;2014-99160-219\)](https://search.proquest.com/docview/1459228108?accountid=49537(1604761327;2014-99160-219)).
- Chen, J.-H., Tsai, P.-H., Lin, Y.-C., Chen, C.-K., & Chen, C.-Y. (2019). Mindfulness Training Enhances Flow State and Mental Health Among Baseball Players in Taiwan. *Psychology Research and Behavior Management*, 12, 15. <https://doi.org/10.2147/PRBM.S188734>
- Chen, J.-K., Johnston, K. M., Petrides, M., & Pfitzner, A. (2008). Neural Substrates of Symptoms of Depression following Concussion in Male Athletes with Persisting Postconcussion Symptoms. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 65(1), 81–89. <https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2007.8>
- Covassin, T., Bretzin, A. C., Japinga, A., Teachnor-Hauk, D., & Nogle, S. (2019). Exploring the Relationship Between Depression and Seasonal Affective Disorder in Incoming First Year Collegiate Student-Athletes. *Athletic Training*

- & *Sports Health Care: The Journal for the Practicing Clinician*, 11(3), 124–130. <https://doi.org/10.3928/19425864-20180710-01>
- Covassin, T., Elbin, R. J., Larson, E., & Kontos, A. P. (2012). Sex and Age Differences in Depression and Baseline Sport-Related Concussion Neurocognitive Performance and Symptoms. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, 22(2), 98–104. <https://doi.org/10.1097/JSM.0b013e31823403d2>
- Daudt, H. M., van Mossel, C., & Scott, S. J. (2013). Enhancing the Scoping Study Methodology: A Large, Inter-Professional Team’s Experience with Arksey and O’Malley’s Framework. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 13(1), 48. <https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-48>
- Didehbani, N., Munro Cullum, C., Mansinghani, S., Conover, H., & Hart, J., Jr. (2013). Depressive Symptoms and Concussions in Aging Retired NFL Players. *Archives Of Clinical Neuropsychology: The Official Journal Of The National Academy Of Neuropsychologists*, 28(5), 418–424. <https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/act028>
- Dishman, R. K., Hales, D. P., Pfeiffer, K. A., Felton, G. A., Saunders, R., Ward, D. S., Dowda, M., & Pate, R. R. (2006). Physical Self-Concept and Self-Esteem Mediate Cross-Sectional Relations of Physical Activity and Sport Participation with Depression Symptoms among Adolescent Girls. *Health Psychology*, 25(3), 396–407. <https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.25.3.396>
- Doherty, S., Hannigan, B., & Campbell, M. J. (2016). The Experience of Depression during the Careers of Elite Male Athletes. *Frontiers In Psychology*, 7, 1069–1069. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01069>
- Donohue, B., Chow, G. M., Pitts, M., Loughran, T., Schubert, K. N., Gavrilova, Y., & Allen, D. N. (2015). Piloting a Family-Supported Approach to Concurrently



- Optimize Mental Health and Sport Performance in Athletes. *Clinical Case Studies*, 14(3), 159–177. <https://doi.org/10.1177/1534650114548311>
- Donohue, B., Gavrilova, Y., Galante, M., Gavrilova, E., Loughran, T., Scott, J., Chow, G., Plant, C. P., & Allen, D. N. (2018). Controlled Evaluation of an Optimization Approach to Mental Health and sport Performance. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 12(2), 234–267. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.2017-0054>
- Feyzioğlu, Ö., Öztürk, Ö., Sirmen, B., & Muğrabi, S. (2019). Does an Accelerated Program Give Equivalent Results in Both Elite Athletes and Non—Athletes? *Journal Of Sport Rehabilitation*, 1–20. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jsr.2018-0346>
- Frank, R., Nixdorf, I., & Beckmann, J. (2013). Depressionen im Hochleistungssport: Prävalenzen und Psychologische Einflüsse. / Depression in Elite Athletes: Prevalence and Psychological Factors. *German Journal of Sports Medicine / Deutsche Zeitschrift Fur Sportmedizin*, 64(11), 320–326.
- Fraser, M. A. (2017). *The associations among sport-related concussion, head impact biomechanics, and emotion dysregulation in high school athletes.* ~~(1932892636; 2017-10864-051)~~ [Ph.D. Doctoral dissertation, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill]. [ProQuest Central. https://search.proquest.com/docview/1858567570?accountid=49537](https://search.proquest.com/docview/1858567570?accountid=49537)
- Gerber, M., Best, S., Meerstetter, F., Walter, M., Ludyga, S., Brand, S., Bianchi, R., Madigan, D. J., Isoard-Gauthier, S., & Gustafsson, H. (2018). Effects of Stress and Mental Toughness on Burnout and Depressive Symptoms: A Prospective Study with Young Elite Athletes. *Journal Of Science And Medicine In Sport*, 21(12), 1200-1205. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2018.05.018>

- Glass, C. R., Spears, C. A., Perskaudas, R., & Kaufman, K. A. (2019). Mindful sport Performance Enhancement: Randomized controlled trial of a Mental Training Program with Collegiate Athletes. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 13(4), 609–628. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.2017-0044>
- Golding, L., Gillingham, R. G., & Perera, N. K. P. (2020). The Prevalence of Depressive Symptoms in High-Performance Athletes: A Systematic Review. *The Physician and Sportsmedicine*, 1–12. <https://doi.org/10.1080/00913847.2020.1713708>
- Goodman, F. R., Kashdan, T. B., Mallard, T. T., & Schumann, M. (2014). A Brief Mindfulness and Yoga Intervention with an Entire NCAA Division I Athletic Team: An Initial Investigation. *Psychology of Consciousness: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 1(4), 339–356. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/cns0000022>
- Gorczyński, P. F., Coyle, M., & Gibson, K. (2017). Depressive symptoms in High-Performance Athletes and Non-Athletes: A Comparative Meta-Analysis. *British Journal Of Sports Medicine*, 51(18), 1348–1354. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-096455>
- Gouttebauge, V., Castaldelli-Maia, J. M., Gorczyński, P., Hainline, B., Hitchcock, M. E., Kerkhoffs, G. M., Rice, S. M., & Reardon, C. L. (2019). Occurrence of Mental Health Symptoms and Disorders in Current and Former Elite Athletes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53(11), 700–706. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100671>
- Hagiwara, G., Iwatsuki, T., Isogai, H., Van Raalte, J. L., & Brewer, B. W. (2017). Relationships among Sports Helplessness, Depression, and Social Support in American College Student-Athletes. *Journal of Physical Education & Sport*, 17(2), 753–757. <https://doi.org/10.7752/jpes.2017.02114>

- Hammond, T., Gialloredo, C., Kubas, H., & Hap Davis, H., 4th. (2013). The Prevalence of Failure-Based Depression among Elite Athletes. *Clinical Journal Of Sport Medicine: Official Journal Of The Canadian Academy Of Sport Medicine*, 23(4), 273–277. <https://doi.org/10.1097/JSM.0b013e318287b870>
- Hankin, B. L. (2012). Future Directions in Vulnerability to Depression among Youth: Integrating Risk Factors and Processes across Multiple Levels of Analysis. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 41(5), 695–718. <https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2012.711708>
- Hankin, B. L., Abramson, L. Y., Moffitt, T. E., Silva, P. A., McGee, R., & Angell, K. E. (1998). Development of Depression from Preadolescence to Young Adulthood: Emerging Gender Differences in a 10-Year Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 107(1), 128. <https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.107.1.128>
- Haslacher, H., Michlmayr, M., Batmyagmar, D., Perkmann, T., Ponocny-Seliger, E., Scheichenberger, V., Scherzer, T. M., Nistler, S., Pilger, A., Dal-Bianco, P., Lehrner, J., Pezawas, L., Wagner, O. F., & Winker, R. (2015). Rs6295 [C]-Allele Protects Against Depressive Mood in Elderly Endurance Athletes. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 37(6), 637–645. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.2015-0111>
- Ingram, R. E., Siegle, G. J., & Steidtmann, D. (2015). Methodological Issues in the Study of Depression. In *Handbook of depression* (3rd ed., pp. 45–63). The Guilford Press.
- James, S. L., Abate, D., Abate, K. H., Abay, S. M., Abbafati, C., Abbasi, N., Abastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., Abdela, J., & Abdelalim, A. (2018). Global, Regional, and National Incidence, Prevalence, and Years Lived with Disability

- for 354 Diseases and Injuries for 195 Countries and Territories, 1990–2017: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *The Lancet*, 392(10159), 1789–1858. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736\(18\)32279-7](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32279-7)
- Jewett, R., Sabiston, C. M., Brunet, J., O’Loughlin, E. K., Scarapicchia, T., & O’Loughlin, J. (2014). School Sport Participation During Adolescence and Mental Health in Early Adulthood. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 55(5), 640–644. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.04.018>
- Joormann, J., & Arditte, K. (2015). Cognitive aspects of depression. In [Gotlib, I. H., & Hammen, C. L. \(Eds.\), \*Handbook of depression\* \(3rd ed., Vol. 3, pp. 259–276\). The Guilford Press.](#)
- Junge, A., & Feddermann-Demont, N. (2016). Prevalence of Depression and Anxiety in Top-Level Male and Female Football Players. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 2(1). <https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2015-000087>
- Kroenke, K., & Spitzer, R. L. (2002). The PHQ-9: A New Depression Diagnostic and Severity Measure. *Psychiatric Annals*, 32(9), 509–515. <https://doi.org/10.3928/0048-5713-20020901-06>
- Küttel, A., & Larsen, C. H. (2019). Risk and Protective Factors for Mental Health in Elite Athletes: A Scoping Review. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 1–35. <https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984X.2019.1689574>
- Lancaster, M. A., McCrea, M. A., & Nelson, L. D. (2016). Psychometric Properties and Normative Data for the Brief Symptom Inventory-18 (BSI-18) in High School and Collegiate Athletes. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 30(2), 338–350. <https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2016.1138504>

- Leddy, M. H., & Lambert, M. J., & Ogles, B.M. (1994). Psychological Consequences of Athletic Injury among High-Level Competitors. *Research Quarterly for Exercise & Sport*, 65(4), 347. <https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.1994.10607639>
- [Levis, B., Benedetti, A., Ioannidis, J. P., Sun, Y., Negeri, Z., He, C., Wu, Y., Krishnan, A., Bhandari, P. M., & Neupane, D. \(2020\). Patient Health Questionnaire-9 scores do not accurately estimate depression prevalence: Individual participant data meta-analysis. \*Journal of Clinical Epidemiology\*. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2020.02.002>](#)
- Levit, M., Weinstein, A., Weinstein, Y., Tzur-Bitan, D., & Weinstein, A. (2018). A Study on the Relationship between Exercise Addiction, Abnormal Eating Attitudes, Anxiety and Depression among Athletes in Israel. *Journal Of Behavioral Addictions*, 7(3), 800–805. <https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.7.2018.83>
- Lodis, C., Sigmon, S. T., Martinson, A., Craner, J., McGillicuddy, M., & Hale, B. (2012). Is Collegiate Athletic Participation a Protective Factor in Seasonality? *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 6(2), 113–128. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.6.2.113>
- Malhi, G. S., & Mann, J. J. (2018). Depression. *The Lancet*, 392(10161), 2299–2312. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736\(18\)31948-2](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31948-2)
- Manuel, J. C., Shilt, J. S., Curl, W. W., Smith, J. A., Durant, R. H., Lester, L., & Sinal, S. H. (2002). Coping with sports injuries: An examination of the Adolescent Athlete. *The Journal Of Adolescent Health: Official Publication Of The Society For Adolescent Medicine*, 31(5), 391–393. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-139X\(02\)00400-7](https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-139X(02)00400-7)

- McGuire, L. C. (2014). *Temporal changes in depression and neurocognitive performance in collegiate student-athletes: A repeated measures evaluation pre- and post-concussion injury*. [Doctoral dissertation, Temple University]. [Temple University Electronic Theses and Dissertations](https://digital.library.temple.edu/digital/collection/p245801coll10/id/271283/).  
<https://digital.library.temple.edu/digital/collection/p245801coll10/id/271283/>
- McGuire, L. C., Ingram, Y. M., Sachs, M. L., & Tierney, R. T. (2017). Temporal Changes in Depression Symptoms in Male and Female Collegiate Student-Athletes. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, *11*(4), 337–351.  
<https://doi.org/10.1123/JCSP.2016-0035>
- Munn, Z., Peters, M. D., Stern, C., Tufanaru, C., McArthur, A., & Aromataris, E. (2018). Systematic Review or Scoping Review? Guidance for Authors when Choosing Between a Systematic or Scoping Review Approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *18*(1), 143. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x>
- Nixdorf, I., Frank, R., & Beckmann, J. (2016). Comparison of Athletes' Proneness to Depressive Symptoms in Individual and team sports: Research on Psychological Mediators in Junior Elite Athletes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *7*, 893.  
<https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00893>
- Nixdorf, I., Hautzinger, M., & Beckmann, J. (2013). Prevalence of Depressive Symptoms and Correlating Variables Among German Elite Athletes. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, *7*(4), 313–326. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.7.4.313>
- Nylandsted Jensen, S., Ivarsson, A., Fallby, J., Dankers, S., & Elbe, A.-M. (2018). Depression in Danish and Swedish Elite Football Players and its Relation to Perfectionism and Anxiety. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*, *36*, 147–155.  
<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.02.008>

- Ohlert, J., Rau, T., & Allroggen, M. (2019). Association Between Sexual Violence Experiences and Well-Being and Risk for Depression in Elite Athletes Depends on the Context of the Incidents. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 13(2), 311–329. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.2019-0008>
- Peluso, M. A. M., & Andrade, L. H. S. G. de. (2005). Physical activity and Mental Health: The Association between Exercise and Mood. *Clinics*, 60(1), 61–70. <https://doi.org/10.1590/S1807-59322005000100012>
- Peterson, J., Pearce, P. F., Ferguson, L. A., & Langford, C. A. (2017). Understanding Scoping Reviews: Definition, Purpose, and Process. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 29(1), 12–16. <https://doi.org/10.1002/2327-6924.12380>
- Polat, A., Cakir, U., Karabulut, U., Tural, U., & Baron, D. (2015). Reliability and Validity of Turkish Form of Baron Depression Screener for Athletes. *Klinik Psikofarmakoloji Bulteni*, 25, S134–S134. Retrieved from <https://search.proquest.com/docview/1690442470?accountid=49537>
- Purcell, R., Gwyther, K., & Rice, S. M. (2019). Mental Health In Elite Athletes: Increased Awareness Requires An Early Intervention Framework to Respond to Athlete Needs. *Sports Medicine-Open*, 5(1), 46. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-019-0220-1>
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 1(3), 385–401. <https://doi.org/10.1177/014662167700100306>
- Reardon, C. L., & Factor, R. M. (2010). Sport Psychiatry A Systematic Review of Diagnosis and Medical Treatment of Mental Illness in Athletes. *Sports*

*Medicine*, 40(11), 961–980. <https://doi.org/10.2165/11536580-000000000-00000>

Reardon, C. L., Hainline, B., Aron, C. M., Baron, D., Baum, A. L., Bindra, A., Budgett, R., Campriani, N., Castaldelli-Maia, J. M., & Currie, A. (2019). Mental Health in Elite Athletes: International Olympic Committee Consensus Statement (2019). *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53(11), 667–699.

<http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100715>

Rice, S. M., Purcell, R., De Silva, S., Mawren, D., McGorry, P. D., & Parker, A. G. (2016). The Mental Health of Elite Athletes: A Narrative Systematic Review. *Sports Medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 46(9), 1333–1353.

<https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0492-2>

Rice, S., Parker, A., Rosenbaum, S., Bailey, A., Purcell, R., & Mawren, D. (2018a). Sport-Related Concussion and Mental Health Outcomes in Elite Athletes: A Systematic Review. *Sports Medicine*, 48(2), 447–465.

<https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-017-0810-3>

~~Rice, S., Parker, A., Rosenbaum, S., Bailey, A., Purcell, R., & Mawren, D. (2018b). Sport-Related Concussion and Mental Health Outcomes in Elite Athletes: A Systematic Review. *Sports Medicine*, 48(2), 447–465.~~

Rodrigues, D. F., Silva, A., Rosa, J. P. P., Ruiz, F. S., Veríssimo, A. W., Winckler, C., Rocha, E. A. da, Parsons, A., Tufik, S., & Mello, M. T. de. (2017). Profiles of Mood States, Depression, Sleep Quality, Sleepiness, and Anxiety of the Paralympic Athletics Team: A Longitudinal Study. *Apunts. Medicina de l'Esport*, 52(195), 93–101. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apunts.2016.11.002>

Schaal, K., Tafflet, M., Nassif, H., Thibault, V., Pichard, C., Alcotte, M., Guillet, T., El Helou, N., Berthelot, G., Simon, S., & Toussaint, J.-F. (2011). Psychological



Balance in High Level Athletes: Gender-Based Differences and Sport-Specific Patterns. *Plos One*, 6(5), e19007–e19007.

<https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019007>

Schuch, F. B. (2015). Depression in Athletes or Increased Depressive Symptoms in Athletes? *Current Sports Medicine Reports (American College of Sports Medicine)*, 14(3), 244–244. <https://doi.org/10.1249/JSR.0000000000000151>

Shanmugam, V., Jowett, S., & Meyer, C. (2014). Eating Psychopathology as a Risk Factor for Depressive Symptoms in a Sample of British Athletes. *Journal Of Sports Sciences*, 32(17), 1587–1595.

<https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2014.912758>

Smith, E. P., Hill, A. P., & Hall, H. K. (2018). Perfectionism, Burnout, and Depression in Youth Soccer Players: A Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 12(2), 179–200. <https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.2017-0015>

Strain, J. F., Didehbani, N., Spence, J., Conover, H., Bartz, E. K., Mansinghani, S., Jeroudi, M. K., Rao, N. K., Fields, L. M., Kraut, M. A., Cullum, C. M., Hart, J., Jr., & Womack, K. B. (2017). White Matter Changes and Confrontation Naming in Retired Aging National Football League Athletes. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 34(2), 372–379. <https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2016.4446> ~~PsycheINFO~~.

[Swann, C., Crust, L., & Vella, S. A. \(2017\). New directions in the psychology of optimal performance in sport: Flow and clutch states. \*Current Opinion in Psychology\*, 16, 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.03.032](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.03.032)

Swann, C., Moran, A., & Piggott, D. (2015). Defining Elite Athletes: Issues in the Study of Expert Performance in Sport Psychology. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 16, 3–14. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2014.07.004>

- Thomson, P., & Jaque, S. V. (2016). Overexcitability: A Psychological Comparison between Dancers, Opera Singers, and Athletes. *Roepers Review*, 38(2), 84–92.  
<https://doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2016.1150373>
- Tricco, A. C., Lillie, E., Zarin, W., O'Brien, K. K., Colquhoun, H., Levac, D., Moher, D., Peters, M. D., Horsley, T., & Weeks, L. (2018). PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 169(7), 467–473. <https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-0850>
- Uglesić, B., Lasić, D., Zuljan-Cvitanović, M., Buković, D., Karelović, D., Delić-Brkljacić, D., Buković, N., & Radan, M. (2014). Prevalence of Depressive Symptoms among College Students and the Influence of Sport Activity. *Collegium Antropologicum*, 38(1), 235–239.
- Wang, M.-T., Chow, A., & Amemiya, J. (2017). Who Wants to Play? Sport Motivation Trajectories, Sport Participation, and the Development of Depressive Symptoms. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 46(9), 1982–1998.  
<https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-017-0649-9>
- [Weber, S., Puta, C., Lesinski, M., Gabriel, B., Steidten, T., Bär, K.-J., Herbsleb, M., Granacher, U., & Gabriel, H. H. W. \(2018\). Symptoms of Anxiety and Depression in Young Athletes Using the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. \*Frontiers in Physiology\*, 9, 182–182. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00182>](https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00182)
- Willer, B. S., Tiso, M. R., Haider, M. N., Hinds, A. L., Baker, J. G., Miecznikowski, J. C., & Leddy, J. J. (2018). Evaluation of Executive Function and Mental Health in Retired Contact Sport Athletes. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 33(5):E9-E15. <https://doi.org/10.1097/HTR.0000000000000423>

Watkins, E.R. Depressive Rumination and Co-Morbidity: Evidence for Brooding as a Transdiagnostic Process. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy* 27, 160–175. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10942-009-0098-9>

Wolanin, A., Gross, M., & Hong, E. (2015). Depression in athletes: Prevalence and Risk Factors. *Current Sports Medicine Reports*, 14(1), 56–60.  
<https://doi.org/10.1249/JSR.0000000000000123>

World Health Organization. (2017). *Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates*. World Health Organization. Retrieved from [https://www.who.int/mental\\_health/management/depression/prevalence\\_global\\_health\\_estimates/en/](https://www.who.int/mental_health/management/depression/prevalence_global_health_estimates/en/)